
 

                                   

v1 2015 

AGENDA 
 

Meeting London Assembly (Plenary) 

Date Wednesday 25 January 2017 

Time 10.00 am 

Place Chamber, City Hall, The Queen's 
Walk, London, SE1 2AA 

Copies of the reports and any attachments may be found at  
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/whole-assembly 
 
Most meetings of the London Assembly and its Committees are webcast live at 
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/webcasts where you can also view past 
meetings. 
 

A meeting of the Assembly will be held to deal with the business listed below. 
 
Tony Arbour AM 
Chairman of the London Assembly 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM 
Deputy Chair 

 Tuesday 17 January 2017 
 
 
Further Information 
If you have questions, would like further information about the meeting or require special facilities 
please contact: Vishal Seegoolam, Principal Committee Manager; Telephone: 020 7983 4425; Email: 
vishal.seegoolam@london.gov.uk; Minicom: 020 7983 4458. 
 
For media enquiries please contact: Alison Bell; Telephone: 020 7983 5769;  
Email: alison.bell@london.gov.uk; Minicom: 020 7983 4458.  If you have any questions about individual items 
please contact the author whose details are at the end of the report.  
 
This meeting will be open to the public, except for where exempt information is being discussed as 
noted on the agenda.  A guide for the press and public on attending and reporting meetings of local 
government bodies, including the use of film, photography, social media and other means is available 
at www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Openness-in-Meetings.pdf.  
 
There is access for disabled people, and induction loops are available.  There is limited underground 
parking for orange and blue badge holders, which will be allocated on a first-come first-served basis.  
Please contact Facilities Management on 020 7983 4750 in advance if you require a parking space or 
further information. 
 

Proper Officer: Mark Roberts, Executive Director of Secretariat. 
 

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/whole-assembly
http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/webcasts
mailto:alison.bell@london.gov.uk
http://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Openness-in-Meetings.pdf


 

 
Certificate Number: FS 80233 

If you, or someone you know, needs a copy of the agenda, minutes or reports 
in large print or Braille, audio, or in another language, then please call us on 
020 7983 4100 or email assembly.translations@london.gov.uk.   
 

 
 

mailto:assembly.translations@london.gov.uk


 

3 
 

Agenda 
London Assembly (Plenary)  
Wednesday 25 January 2017 
 

1 Apologies for Absence and Chairman's Announcements  
 
 To receive any apologies for absence and any announcements from the Chairman.  

 
 

2 Declarations of Interests (Pages 1 - 4) 

 
 The Assembly is recommended to: 

 
(a) Note the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table at 

Agenda Item 2, as disclosable pecuniary interests;  
 
(b)  Note the declaration by any Member(s) of any disclosable pecuniary interests 

in specific items listed on the agenda and the necessary action taken by the 
Member(s) regarding withdrawal following such declaration(s); and  

 
(c)  Note the declaration by any Member(s) of any other interests deemed to be 

relevant (including any interests arising from gifts and hospitality received 
which are not at the time of the meeting reflected on the Authority’s register 
of gifts and hospitality, and noting also the advice from the GLA’s 
Monitoring Officer set out at Agenda Item 2) and to note any necessary 
action taken by the Member(s) following such declaration(s). 

 
 

3 Draft Consolidated Budget 2017-18  
 

a Report of the Mayor  
 
 (Circulated separately) 

 
The Draft Consolidated Budget 2017-18 has been circulated for the Assembly’s consideration. 
 
The Mayor will present his Report to the Assembly at the meeting. 
 
 

b Response by the London Assembly's Budget and Performance 
Committee to the Mayor of London's GLA Group Budget Proposals and 
Precepts 2017-18 Consultation Document (Pages 5 - 48) 

 
 The document sets out the Assembly’s Budget and Performance Committee’s response to the 

Mayor’s budget proposals for 2017-18, based on evidence taken from the functional bodies 

and the GLA during the budget development and consultation processes. It highlights the key 

issues raised during the Committee’s deliberations and offers comments to the Mayor on his 

consultation budget.  

 



 

4 
 

The Budget and Performance Committee’s comments relate to the Mayor’s proposals that 

were published for consultation on Wednesday 21 December 2016 and not to the Draft 

Consolidated Budget published with this agenda. 

 

The Assembly is recommended to note the response by the London Assembly’s 

Budget and Performance Committee to the Mayor’s Draft Consultation Budget for 

2017-18. 
 
 

c Questions to the Mayor on his Draft 2017-18 Consolidated Budget 
Proposals  

 
 Assembly Members will put questions to the Mayor on the seven sections of the Draft 

Consolidated Budget document. 
 
 

4 Consideration by the London Assembly of the Mayor of London's Draft 
Consolidated Budget proposals 2017-18  

 
 The Assembly is under a duty to consider the Mayor’s Draft Consolidated Budget and to 

approve it, with or without amendment (paragraph 5(3) of Schedule 6 of the GLA Act 1999 

(as amended)). 

 

The following substantive motion is before the Assembly: 

 

“To approve the Draft Consolidated Budget for 2017-18, together with the draft 

component budgets comprised within it, with or without amendment.” 

 

[Note: In accordance with GLA Standing Order 6.12 B, the motion set out above shall be 

considered without being proposed or seconded by a Member. The motion may be amended 

by a Budget Amendment, in accordance with the procedures described in Standing Orders 

6.10, 6.12 and 6.16. The Assembly will consider amendments to the Draft Consolidated 

Budget, and budget-related motions (if any).  

 

If a Budget Amendment is carried by the requisite majority (at this stage, a simple majority of 

votes cast) then the substantive motion shall fall and the Draft Consolidated Budget shall be 

deemed agreed as amended. The Mayor is under a duty to respond to any amendments 

passed when he presents his Final Budget. 

 

If no amendment is agreed, or if the substantive motion is not passed (whether put to the 

vote or not) then the Assembly is deemed by law (Paragraph 5(5) of Schedule 6 to the GLA 

Act 1999) to have approved the Draft Consolidated Budget without amendment. 

 

This is the first part of a two stage budget-setting process and the Assembly is due to make a 

final decision on the budget at the London Assembly (Mayor’s Question Time) meeting on 20 

February 2017.]  
 
 



 

5 
 

5 Date of Next Meeting  
 
 The next scheduled meeting of the London Assembly will be the Plenary meeting which will 

take place at 10.00am on Wednesday 8 February 2017 in the Chamber, City Hall.  
 
 

6 Any Other Business the Chairman Considers Urgent  
 
 
 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

                                                                      

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk  v2/2016 

 

Subject: Declarations of Interests 
 

Report to: London Assembly (Plenary)  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 25 January 2017 

 
This report will be considered in public 
 
 
 
1. Summary  

 
1.1 This report sets out details of offices held by Assembly Members for noting as disclosable pecuniary 

interests and requires additional relevant declarations relating to disclosable pecuniary interests, and 

gifts and hospitality to be made. 

 
 
2. Recommendations  
 

2.1 That the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table below, be noted 

as disclosable pecuniary interests1; 

2.2 That the declaration by any Member(s) of any disclosable pecuniary interests in specific 

items listed on the agenda and the necessary action taken by the Member(s) regarding 

withdrawal following such declaration(s) be noted; and 

2.3 That the declaration by any Member(s) of any other interests deemed to be relevant 

(including any interests arising from gifts and hospitality received which are not at the 

time of the meeting reflected on the Authority’s register of gifts and hospitality, and 

noting also the advice from the GLA’s Monitoring Officer set out at below) and any 

necessary action taken by the Member(s) following such declaration(s) be noted. 

 
3. Issues for Consideration  
 
3.1 Relevant offices held by Assembly Members are listed in the table overleaf: 

  

                                                 
1 The Monitoring Officer advises that: Paragraph 10 of the Code of Conduct will only preclude a Member from 
participating in any matter to be considered or being considered at, for example, a meeting of the Assembly, 
where the Member has a direct Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in that particular matter. The effect of this is 
that the ‘matter to be considered, or being considered’ must be about the Member’s interest. So, by way of 
example, if an Assembly Member is also a councillor of London Borough X, that Assembly Member will be 
precluded from participating in an Assembly meeting where the Assembly is to consider a matter about the 
Member’s role / employment as a councillor of London Borough X; the Member will not be precluded from 
participating in a meeting where the Assembly is to consider a matter about an activity or decision of London 
Borough X. 

 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



        

 

Member Interest 

Tony Arbour AM Member, LFEPA; Member, LB Richmond 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM Committee of the Regions  

Gareth Bacon AM Member, LFEPA; Member, LB Bexley 

Kemi Badenoch AM  

Shaun Bailey AM  

Sian Berry AM Member, LB Camden 

Andrew Boff AM Congress of Local and Regional Authorities (Council of 
Europe) 

Leonie Cooper AM Member, LFEPA; Member, LB Wandsworth 

Tom Copley AM  

Unmesh Desai AM Member, LB Newham 

Tony Devenish AM Member, City of Westminster 

Andrew Dismore AM Member, LFEPA 

Len Duvall AM  

Florence Eshalomi AM Member, LFEPA; Member, LB Lambeth 

Nicky Gavron AM  

David Kurten AM Member, LFEPA 

Joanne McCartney AM Deputy Mayor 

Steve O’Connell AM Member, LB Croydon  

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM  

Keith Prince AM Member, LB Redbridge 

Caroline Russell AM Member, LFEPA; Member, LB Islington 

Dr Onkar Sahota AM  

Navin Shah AM  

Fiona Twycross AM Chair, LFEPA; Chair of the London Local Resilience Forum 

Peter Whittle AM  
 

[Note: LB - London Borough; LFEPA - London Fire and Emergency Planning Authority.   
The appointments to LFEPA reflected above take effect as from 17 June 2016.] 

 
3.2 Paragraph 10 of the GLA’s Code of Conduct, which reflects the relevant provisions of the Localism 

Act 2011, provides that:  
 

- where an Assembly Member has a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in any matter to be considered 
or being considered or at  

 

(i) a meeting of the Assembly and any of its committees or sub-committees; or  
 

(ii) any formal meeting held by the Mayor in connection with the exercise of the Authority’s 
functions  

 

- they must disclose that interest to the meeting (or, if it is a sensitive interest, disclose the fact 
that they have a sensitive interest to the meeting); and  

 

- must not (i) participate, or participate any further, in any discussion of the matter at the 
meeting; or (ii) participate in any vote, or further vote, taken on the matter at the meeting 

 

UNLESS 
 

- they have obtained a dispensation from the GLA’s Monitoring Officer (in accordance with 
section 2 of the Procedure for registration and declarations of interests, gifts and hospitality – 
Appendix 5 to the Code).    

 

3.3 Failure to comply with the above requirements, without reasonable excuse, is a criminal offence; as is 

knowingly or recklessly providing information about your interests that is false or misleading. 

Page 2



        

3.4 In addition, the Monitoring Officer has advised Assembly Members to continue to apply the test that 

was previously applied to help determine whether a pecuniary / prejudicial interest was arising - 

namely, that Members rely on a reasonable estimation of whether a member of the public, with 

knowledge of the relevant facts, could, with justification, regard the matter as so significant that it 

would be likely to prejudice the Member’s judgement of the public interest.  

3.5 Members should then exercise their judgement as to whether or not, in view of their interests and 

the interests of others close to them, they should participate in any given discussions and/or 

decisions business of within and by the GLA. It remains the responsibility of individual Members to 

make further declarations about their actual or apparent interests at formal meetings noting also 

that a Member’s failure to disclose relevant interest(s) has become a potential criminal offence. 

3.6 Members are also required, where considering a matter which relates to or is likely to affect a person 

from whom they have received a gift or hospitality with an estimated value of at least £25 within the 

previous three years or from the date of election to the London Assembly, whichever is the later, to 

disclose the existence and nature of that interest at any meeting of the Authority which they attend 

at which that business is considered.  

3.7 The obligation to declare any gift or hospitality at a meeting is discharged, subject to the proviso set 

out below, by registering gifts and hospitality received on the Authority’s on-line database. The on-

line database may be viewed here:  

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/gifts-and-hospitality.  

3.8 If any gift or hospitality received by a Member is not set out on the on-line database at the time of 

the meeting, and under consideration is a matter which relates to or is likely to affect a person from 

whom a Member has received a gift or hospitality with an estimated value of at least £25, Members 

are asked to disclose these at the meeting, either at the declarations of interest agenda item or when 

the interest becomes apparent.  

3.9 It is for Members to decide, in light of the particular circumstances, whether their receipt of a gift or 

hospitality, could, on a reasonable estimation of a member of the public with knowledge of the 

relevant facts, with justification, be regarded as so significant that it would be likely to prejudice the 

Member’s judgement of the public interest. Where receipt of a gift or hospitality could be so 

regarded, the Member must exercise their judgement as to whether or not, they should participate in 

any given discussions and/or decisions business of within and by the GLA. 

 

4. Legal Implications 
 

4.1 The legal implications are as set out in the body of this report. 

 
5. Financial Implications 
 

5.1 There are no financial implications arising directly from this report. 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

Contact Officer: Vishal Seegoolam, Principal Committee Manager 

Telephone: 020 7983 4425 

E-mail: vishal.seegoolam@london.gov.uk 

 

Page 3

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/gifts-and-hospitality


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 4



 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
  

Response to the Mayor’s draft 
consultation budget 2017-18  

Budget and Performance Committee 
January 2017 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3b



 
 

 
 
 

Holding the Mayor to 
account and 
investigating issues that 
matter to Londoners 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 6



 
 

 
 
 

Budget and Performance Committee Members 

 
 
 

 
The Budget and Performance Committee holds the Mayor to account for his financial decisions 
and performance across the Greater London Authority. It is responsible for scrutinising the 
Mayor’s budget proposals for the next year, and carrying out investigations across the Mayor’s 
various policy areas, such as transport, police, fire, housing and regeneration. 
 

Contact 
Lucy Pickering, Scrutiny Manager      
Email: Lucy.Pickering@london.gov.uk 
Contact: 020 7983 5770 

 

Follow us: 

@LondonAssembly 

#AssemblyBudget 
facebook.com/london.assembly   

Gareth Bacon AM 
(Chairman) 
Conservative 

Len Duvall AM 
(Deputy Chair) 
Labour 

Sian Berry AM 
Green 

Leonie Cooper AM 
Labour 

Unmesh Desai AM 
Labour 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE 
AM 
Liberal Democrat 

Keith Prince AM 
Conservative 

Page 7

https://twitter.com/LondonAssembly
https://www.facebook.com/london.assembly


 
 

 

Contents   

 

Foreword ........................................................................... 4 

Summary ............................................................................ 6 

Recommendations ............................................................. 9 

1. Introduction ............................................................. 11 

2. Police ....................................................................... 15 

3. Transport ................................................................. 19 

4. Fire ........................................................................... 23 

5. The Mayoral Development Corporations................. 25 

6. Housing .................................................................... 30 

7. Environment ............................................................ 32 

Our approach ................................................................... 35 

References ....................................................................... 36 

Other formats and languages .......................................... 41 

Page 8



 
 

 
 4    

 

We were surprised 
to learn that the 
Mayor will not 
fund the Met to 
the level needed to 
achieve his 
“strategic target” 
of 32,000 police 
officers in 2017-18. 

Foreword 

Gareth Bacon AM  
Chair of the Budget and Performance Committee 

The Mayor is now eight months into his term of office. 
Until now, the GLA Group has been working to the 
budget set by the previous Mayor. But, from April, this 
will change. In his draft consultation budget, the 

Mayor has set out his vision for how the GLA Group 
should be funded to implement his manifesto 
commitments. And it is our first opportunity to 
scrutinise his proposals on behalf of Londoners. Yet I – 

and others on the committee – have been disappointed by the lack of key 
information we need to scrutinise the Mayor’s budget.  Perhaps the most 
striking example of this is the inability to provide us with details of the 
changes to TfL’s capital investment plan, or TfL’s savings and efficiency plans 
beyond 2017-18.  I hope that the Mayor has listened to our concerns about 
this and addresses them in the next iteration of his budget, and also that he 
has learned lessons for future years. 

In this report, we present our key findings from our budget scrutiny work this 
year and our analysis of the Mayor’s budget documents.  We were surprised 
to learn that the Mayor will not fund the Met to the level needed to achieve 
his “strategic target” of 32,000 police officers in 2017-18.  We also note the 
continued pressure on the Met’s budget, which may still worsen pending the 
government’s review of the policing funding formula. The Mayor will be 
raising council tax to cover some of the Met’s funding gap, and he is putting 
pressure on MOPAC to reduce back-office policing costs, largely by delivering 
its Estates and Digital Policing strategies. We continue to have concerns about 
the Digital Policing strategy in particular, which is vital to the Met’s ability to 
cut costs and improve performance. 

We raise questions about the future of regeneration in West London, as the 

Mayor plans to cut his funding to the Old Oak and Park Royal Development 
Corporation by 40 per cent.  In East London, the London Legacy Development 
Corporation continues to require subsidy by the Mayor to break-even.  And 
we are disappointed that – yet again – taxpayers will have to foot the bill for 
the London Stadium – this time for the retractable seating. In his imminent 
investigation into all of the issues surrounding the Stadium, the Mayor should 
ensure the terms of the lease with West Ham United Football club are 
reviewed.  

Page 9



 
 

 
 5    

I will conclude by recognising the positive efforts of LFEPA to present a 

balanced budget for the next three years, and to present its savings plans in 
such a comprehensive manner – something that other parts of the GLA Group 
could learn from in future years. We also give our support to the Mayor in his 
negotiations with the government to secure funding for LFEPA to implement 
Lord Harris’ recommendations. Keeping London safe from terrorism is sadly 
one of the Mayor’s top priorities – it is vital that the government provides the 
financial support he needs to do so. 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 10



 
 

 
 6    

We remain 
frustrated by a lack 
of transparency in 
certain elements 
of the budget 
process.  

Summary 

In this report, we present the findings from our scrutiny of the Mayor’s 
budget proposals for 2017-18. This is the new Mayor’s first budget process, 
and he has presented a budget which aligns with his key priorities, many of 
which correspond to his manifesto commitments. The findings in this report 
seek to inform the next draft of the Mayor’s budget, due later this month. 

To date, we remain frustrated by a lack of transparency in certain elements of 

the budget process. In particular, the lack of detail and inconsistent 
presentation of savings and efficiencies has left us with more questions than 
answers. We are also disappointed by how the OPDC’s budget has been 
presented, possibly to make its budget cut appear less dramatic than it really 
is. We are still frustrated by the Mayor’s refusal to publish the initial budget 
submissions of the functional bodies. We hope that the next version of the 
Mayor’s budget is more transparent than the first draft. 

We note a trend emerging across the GLA Group to draw down reserves and 
increase borrowing. The Mayor has said his plans are only to draw down 
earmarked reserves for one-off transformation costs, rather than to support 
revenue expenditure. We will continue to monitor the levels of reserves and 

borrowing across the Group over the coming year. 

As in recent years, we see that the Met’s budget continues to be under 
pressure. Over the past four years the Met has been required to make over 
£600 million of savings. It now needs to generate £400 million of further 

efficiency savings by 2020-21. This situation is exacerbated by the inadequate 
settlement from Government under the National and International Capital 
City Grant whereby the Met only receives half of the funding it requires to 
police London as a capital city.  Alongside this the Met expects further cuts 
following the funding formula review.  

The Home Office has announced a £17.4 million reduction in funding for the 
Met for 2017-18; this is a response to the previous Mayor’s failure to raise the 

policing council tax precept over the last four years.1 The Mayor has 
responded with a proposal to raise Council Tax for the first time since 2008 to 
partially cover this funding gap. The Mayor has yet to set out how he will fund 
the remainder of the gap.  

The Met is trying to bear down on costs, and aims to reduce its spend on non-
frontline services to less than 15 per cent of its budget. The Met has to 
implement its Estates and Digital Policing strategies if it is going to be able to 
provide an efficient and quality service to London in the future. MOPAC has to 
improve its oversight of this work. 

Page 11



 
 

 
 7    

It is not acceptable 
that TfL has been 
unable to clearly 
explain how its 
investment 
programme has 
changed in its new 
business plan. 

We discovered in our 5 January 2017 meeting that the Met will not be able to 

reach the Mayor’s “strategic target” of 32,000 police officers in 2017-18 and 
he is removing £38 million from its budget. The Mayor hopes to provide 
funding for 32,000 officers in 2018-19, but this is wholly dependent on 
receiving a favourable settlement from government.  We welcome the 
Mayor’s strong commitment to lobbying government for this settlement. 

We do not have the information we need on TfL’s savings and efficiency plans, 
or on its capital investment programme. TfL has only provided an indication of 
savings and efficiencies for 2017-18, but not for future years. This is 
concerning because TfL has a stretching target of £800 million of annual 
efficiency savings by 2020-21; only £228 million in 2017-18 has so far been 
identified. Since the publication of our September 2016 report, the Mayor and 

TfL have, despite promising, failed to provide details of the changes that have 
been made to TfL’s capital investment plan. Until this information is provided 
the viability of certain schemes, such as the Metropolitan Line extension, will 
be under question.    

It is not acceptable that TfL has been unable to clearly explain how its 
investment programme has changed in its new business plan. We also have 
concerns over TfL’s ability to generate an 11 per cent increase in bus 
passenger numbers by 2021-22 as forecast in its latest business plan. Failing 
to reach this target will have major consequences for TfL’s finances, and we 
expect to see further detail behind this figure in due course. 

We are concerned about the financial position of the two Mayoral 

Development Corporations – the Old Oak and Park Royal Development 
Corporation (OPDC) and the London Legacy Development Corporation (LLDC). 
There are a number of different interpretations of the Mayor’s changes to the 
OPDC’s budget but the plainest is that he intends to reduce funding by 40 per 
cent.  As a result of this cut, regeneration at Old Oak and Park Royal is at risk. 
The Mayor has not clearly identified how the OPDC will implement his 
ambitions; we believe that if this continues the project will be at risk of 
further delays. We would welcome clarity from the Mayor about his plans to 
release the £1 million of contingency funding for the OPDC which could be 
used to establish ongoing revenue streams. 

The LLDC’s finances are still evolving, and to break-even in the near future, it 
would need to increase income five-fold. Although we have been assured that 

there will be no further cost from the transformation work on the London 
Stadium, we note that the LLDC will now have to find up to £5 million every 
year to support the running costs of the Stadium. We recommend that the 
Mayor’s imminent investigation into the issues surrounding the London 
Stadium includes a review of the terms of the lease agreement, negotiated 
under the previous Mayoralty, with West Ham United Football Club. 

We await further detail about the Mayor’s proposals for funding his 
environmental priorities. We recommend he sets out clear funding streams, 
with milestones for achieving his targets, so we can monitor his progress. We 

Page 12

https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/budget_and_performance_committee_report_tfls_financial_challenge_final.pdf


 
 

 
 8    

also question what appears to be a reduction in the budget for the GLA’s 

Development, Enterprise and Environment Directorate for delivering some of 
his environmental priorities.  

Our scrutiny has identified more positive findings for LFEPA, which has 
presented a balanced budget for the next three years. LFEPA is currently 
working to address the funding gap it is forecasting in 2020-21. We note a key 
risk for LFEPA’s budget in securing funding from the Home Office to 
implement Lord Harris’ recommendations to improve London’s preparedness 
to respond to a major terrorist incident. LFEPA cannot afford to implement 
these important recommendations without additional Home Office funding. 

Finally, we note that the Mayor has been successful in securing a favourable 
affordable housing settlement for London. We welcome his commitment to 

setting annual affordable housing targets so we can monitor his progress in 
delivering 90,000 affordable housing starts by 2020-21. We look forward to 
receiving an update on his revised plans for making use of the London Housing 
Bank, and ask that any changes he makes should be reflected in his annual 
targets for delivering affordable homes.  

Page 13



 
 

 
 9    

Recommendations 

Recommendation 1  

In the Mayor’s draft consolidated budget: 

 Savings and efficiencies must be presented on a consistent basis 
across the functional bodies. This should include MOPAC resetting its 

savings counter to zero. 

 If cumulative figures are included, these must be clearly marked. 
Annual figures must also be included for transparency. 

Recommendation 2  

In his draft consolidated budget, the Mayor should clearly set out where he 
has found £6.2 million to meet the difference between the provisional police 
settlement and the funding he will secure from raising the police precept 
element of council tax. 

Recommendation 3  

The draft consolidated budget should include a high-level breakdown of the 
annual savings and efficiencies contained in the TfL business plan, reaching 
£800 million a year by 2020-21. 

Recommendation 4  

TfL should publish a project-by-project list showing changes in capital 
investment from the previous business plan, with a narrative to explain the 
reasoning behind them, and the implications of these changes. TfL should 
commit to publishing this information alongside any future business plans. 

Recommendation 5  

TfL should justify its forecast and assumptions for bus passengers as set out in 
its December 2016 business plan and set out the risks if these forecasts are not 
achieved. 

Page 14



 
 

 
 10    

Recommendation 6 

The draft consolidated budget should use the OPDC’s revised 2016-17 budget 
of £11.4 million, rather than its forecast outturn of £8.6 million. 

Recommendation 7 

The OPDC should provide detail on plans for how it would use the Mayor’s £1 
million of contingency funding. 

Recommendation 8  

The Mayor should urgently publish plans for the investigation into the London 
Stadium. This should include the terms of reference for the investigation, 
which should include a review of the terms of the Stadium lease agreement, 
and confirm his plans for publishing the outcome of the investigation. 

Recommendation 9  

In his response to this report, the Mayor should set out: 

 the funding he is providing for his environmental commitments 

 when key milestones will be published for achieving them  

 the proposed budget for the GLA’s Development, Enterprise and 

Environment Directorate, and provide clarity on how much funding 
will be allocated to environmental programmes. 

 

  

Page 15



 
 

 
 11    

1. Introduction 
Key findings 

 The Mayor’s consultation budget sets out how he 
will fund his key priorities, many of which stem from 
his manifesto commitments. 

 Throughout the budget process we have identified 
many issues with transparency. To our 
disappointment, the Mayor has failed to publish the 
GLA Group’s initial budget submissions.  There 
appears to be an attempt to conceal a 40 per cent 
reduction in funding for the OPDC in the draft 
budget. Plans for savings and efficiencies lack detail 
and are presented inconsistently. 

 We have established a trend across the GLA Group 
for the functional bodies to draw down reserves and 
increase borrowing.  

Page 16



 
 

 
 12    

New Mayor, new priorities 

1.1 London has a new Mayor, elected in May to deliver the policies set out in his 
manifesto. The Mayor’s consultation budget seeks to implement these. In the 
introduction to his consultation budget, the Mayor states that it “supports 
London’s future growth and success, entrepreneurial spirit, thriving economy, 
extraordinary diversity and creativity, tolerance and openness to the world. It 
is built around my vision of a London where nobody feels left behind and 
where everyone has the opportunities they need to fulfil their potential.”2 It 
includes funding proposals for a range of issues, many of which stem from key 
manifesto commitments, including £3.15 billion for the delivery of 90,000 
affordable homes and a four-year freeze on TfL’s fares. It also includes key 
deliverables, such as a ‘strategic target of 32,000 police officers’ and funding 

to ‘tackle London’s filthy air’3  

Transparency 

1.2 Throughout this year, we have maintained pressure on the Mayor to increase 
the transparency of the budget process and improve the quality of the 
information provided in the key budget documents. Some progress has been 
made – for example, in response to our concern regarding the absence of any 
Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) in this year’s consultation budget, the 
Mayor has stated that “work has begun to establish target outcomes, aligned 
to the GLA’s programme areas,” and he will “consult with the committee on 
these before the end of the financial year”.4 We also welcome the Mayor’s 

commitment to maintaining transparency of executive decisions made 
regarding the London Fire Brigade (LFB), once LFEPA is abolished and LFB’s 
governance arrangements come into City Hall. 

1.3 Less positively, after many requests, the Mayor still refuses to publish the 

initial budget submissions of the GLA and its functional bodies. We initially 
requested sight of these in July 2016, in our meeting with the Mayor’s Chief of 
Staff. In his response to our Pre-Budget Report 2016, the Mayor stated that 
“the initial budget submission will remain as private advice to me as to not do 
so would inhibit future private advice that I need.” We were disappointed that 
the Mayor reiterated this message in our 10 January 2017 meeting. 

1.4 Perhaps the most striking example of a lack of transparency is the attempt to 

hide a reduction of 40 per cent to the OPDC’s funding. He has presented his 
proposals for the OPDC’s 2017-18 budget as a comparison against its 2016-17 
outturn, rather than its budget (as in previous years and for all the other 
functional bodies). The consultation budget states that it includes “savings 
totalling £1.7 million” but they are actually £4.5 million of savings against its 
2016-17 budget, or 40 per cent.5 We raised this issue with the OPDC and the 
Mayor at our January meetings, and this issue is covered in more detail in 
Chapter Five.   

Page 17

https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/final_-_budget_and_performance_committee_-_pre-budget_report_2016.pdf


 
 

 
 13    

1.5 The Mayor must address the inconsistent manner in which the GLA Group’s 

plans for savings and efficiencies are presented. This is not only an issue for 
the OPDC’s savings, but also for most parts of the GLA Group, where sufficient 
details about savings and efficiency plans are lacking. In particular, we are 
dissatisfied with the confusing manner in which MOPAC’s plans are presented. 
In our 5 January meeting, we learned that MOPAC’s savings and efficiencies 
were presented in the budget on a cumulative basis, despite there being no 
indication in the consultation budget that this was the case. Only through 
extensive questioning did we learn that the Mayor is proposing savings of £38 
million by reducing the budget for front-line policing in 2017-18. This is 
covered in more detail in Chapter Two. 

1.6 In his draft consolidated budget, the Mayor should set out annual savings and 

efficiency figures for MOPAC and the other parts of the GLA Group. In our Pre-
Budget Report 2015, we noted that the presentation of TfL’s savings on a 
cumulative basis was confusing.6 We recommended that TfL’s savings counter 
should be reset to zero in 2016, so that we could identify TfL’s savings on an 
annual rather than an ongoing cumulative basis. The previous Mayor agreed, 
and TfL implemented this change in 2016. The Mayor should now do the same 
with MOPAC’s figures. 

1.7 Despite an overall improvement in the way TfL presents its financial 
information over the last year, we are disappointed with TfL’s – and the 
Mayor’s – inability to provide any detail about TfL’s ongoing savings plans. 
This is covered in more detail in Chapter Three. In contrast, we praise LFEPA 
for the clarity and detail of its savings and efficiency plans. LFEPA’s budget 

submission contains a comprehensive package of savings proposals, including 
54 proposals for 2017-18.7 We do not accept TfL’s reasoning that LFEPA is 
such a different organisation to make our comparison invalid, or that TfL’s 
savings and efficiencies are uniquely commercially sensitive. The Mayor must 
force TfL to publish more detail about its savings and efficiencies beyond 
2017-18 in his draft consolidated budget. 

1.8  As the pressure intensifies on MOPAC, and the rest of the GLA Group, to 
make savings and efficiencies, it will be particularly important to understand, 
and thus be able to monitor, how and when they will be realised. In his final 
budget, the Mayor must take a consistent approach to presenting the savings 
and efficiencies of the GLA Group.  

 

Recommendation 1 
In the Mayor’s draft consolidated budget: 

 Savings and efficiencies must be presented on a consistent basis 

across the functional bodies. This should include MOPAC 
resetting its savings counter to zero. 

 If cumulative figures are included, these must be clearly marked. 
Annual figures must also be included for transparency. 

Page 18

https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/pre-budget_report_2015.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/pre-budget_report_2015.pdf


 
 

 
 14    

Financial sustainability of GLA Group 

1.9 There is a trend emerging across the GLA Group for drawing down reserves 
and increasing borrowing. Total reserves across the GLA family drop by £530 
million in 2017-18 and will be £741 million lower in 2020-21 than they are 
today.8 The GLA also plans to increase borrowing by £941 million in 2017-18 
and will have borrowed over £4 billion more by 2020-21.9 The majority of the 
borrowing - £2.5 billion, or 58 per cent of the total – is by TfL. TfL has 
traditionally had by far the largest capital investment plan of all the functional 
bodies and this is not out of line with previous years, and TfL’s borrowing is 
within guidelines set by central government. As TfL’s Chief Finance Officer told 
us: “If your business needs investment – it does – and money is relative cheap 
– it is – why would you not increase your borrowings?”10 

1.10 The Mayor must ensure that this increase in borrowing brings about the 
transformational change that is needed and that will pay for the additional 
interest costs that will be incurred. We have noted that the Mayor’s proposals 
to use the GLA Group’s reserves are principally to use up earmarked reserves 

– that is, the Mayor plans to use money which has been put aside in the past 
to fund specific plans now. The GLA is building up a business rates reserve to 
manage risk.  General reserves will remain steady, and reassuringly the GLA is 
not borrowing any money to fund ongoing costs. We will continue to monitor 
the Mayor’s plans to assess whether all borrowing is indeed being used to 
invest in capital projects to modernise and transform GLA services for the 
future. 

  

Page 19



 
 

 
 15    

2. Police 

Key findings 

 The Met’s budget is under pressure. Over the past 
four years the Met realised £600 million worth of 
savings across its budget. It must now find a further 
£400 million of efficiency savings by 2020-21, faces 
a £17.4 million reduction in Home Office funding, 
receives an inadequate National and International 
Capital City Grant, and the outcome of the funding 
formula review is likely to bring further cuts for 
London. 

 The Mayor’s budget does not provide the Met with 
funding to provide 32,000 police officers in 2017-18. 
This means that the Mayor will miss his “strategic 
target.” 

 The Mayor is proposing to raise Council Tax for the 
first time since 2008 to partially cover a drop in 
Home Office grant. We do not know how he will fill 
the remainder of the funding gap. 

 The Mayor has ambitious plans for the Met to bear 
down on costs, including at least 85 per cent of all 
spend to be on front-line policing. 

 Successful implementation of the Met’s Digital 
Policing and Estates strategies are vital if efficiencies 
are to be made and services improved.  

Page 20



 
 

 
 16    

Front-line policing 

2.1 The Met’s budget is becoming increasingly tight. We already know that the 
Met needs to find £400 million of efficiency savings by 2020-21, and in 
December 2016 the Government announced the Met will face a £17.4 million 
cut in Home Office funding.11 The Met’s National and International Capital 
City (NICC) grant has not increased since 2014-15 and covers only half of the 
Met’s capital city costs.12 Most worryingly, the Mayor estimates that changes 
to the national Police Funding Formula in 2017-18 will reduce government 
funding to the Met by anywhere between £180-£700 million.13 It is clear that 
London’s policing is now very stretched, with the Met having to balance 
funding for equally vital local and national policing priorities. We welcome this 
Mayor’s continuation of the previous Mayor’s efforts in lobbying the 

government to get a sufficient settlement for our capital. 

2.2 While the Met is pursuing a myriad of efficiency savings to meet these funding 
challenges, it is clear that soon there will be an impact on front-line police 
officers. The Mayor has pledged to maintain the “strategic target of 32,000 

police officers” in his draft Police and Crime Plan.14 Yet the Met has told us 
that it will not be possible to meet this target this year. Therefore, his 
consultation budget does not include funding for 32,000 officers in 2017-18. 
MOPAC’s budget submission shows that the Met’s single largest efficiency 
measure for 2017-18 is recognising that the Met is currently ,and has 
historically been, under-strength, at approximately 31,200 officers, and the 
Mayor intends to remove the £38 million of funding required to bring it up to 

32,000 officers.15 The Mayor has called this “putting theory and practice into 
one”.16  

2.3 In view of forthcoming changes to the national Police Funding Formula, it 
seems highly unlikely the Met will be able to afford 32,000 officers in the near 
future. While the Mayor told us that he planned to bring the £38 million back 
in to the Met’s budget after 2017-18, he said this was entirely dependent on 
government funding: “if the police funding formula in the government’s 
planning is as planned last year, we cannot reach it [32,000].”17  

Raising council tax to pay for front-line policing 

2.4 According to the provisional police settlement, the Met will lose £17.4 million 
in funding compared to last year.18 This is because the previous Mayor cut the 

police precept by 3.24 per cent in the 2016-17 budget, despite the Home 
Office’s requirement for each Police and Crime Commissioner to increase the 
police precept.19 The Met is the only police force in the country facing a fall in 
cash terms in 2017-18.  

2.5 To address this issue, the Mayor proposes to increase the police precept 

element of council tax by 1.99 per cent. A 1.99 per cent increase across the 
total precept (and the precept in the City of London) is the maximum the 
Mayor can raise council tax by before triggering a referendum.  The Mayor is 
only proposing to raise the policing element of council tax, but he could, if he 

Page 21



 
 

 
 17    

wanted, raise the policing element higher – but within the margins of the total 

council tax rise limit of 1.99 per cent – without triggering a referendum.  He 
has indicated he does not intend to do this.20 

2.6 This is the first rise in the GLA element of council tax since the 2008-09 
financial year. The increase will raise £11.2 million.  The Mayor has found a 
further £6.2 million from other (non-police) council tax income.21 He has not 
explicitly identified where he has taken this £6.2 million from in the 
consultation budget. He should set this out in his final budget.  As a result of 
these measures, MOPAC does not have a funding gap in the Mayor’s 
consultation budget for 2017-18. 

 

Savings and efficiencies 

2.7 MOPAC and the Met have ambitious plans to bear down on back office costs. 
In the draft Police and Crime Plan, the Mayor has said he wants at least 85 per 
cent of all spend to be on front-line policing, rather than on back-office 
functions.22 Yet HMIC’s annual review of the Met’s efficiency shows that the 
Met’s spend is already much more front-line focussed than the average police 

force.23 No other police force in the country has reached anywhere near 85 
per cent of its spend on front-line policing – HMIC’s review found the Met 
spends 73 per cent on police officers, while forces across England and Wales 
spend 59 per cent. However, the Deputy Commissioner for Policing and Crime 
told us that the Met is working on making it a realistic target and the Deputy 
Commissioner said it was a “challenge” but also a “public and private sector 
benchmark.”24  

2.8 We remain concerned at the implementation of the Met’s Digital Policing 
strategy. This is a fundamental element of the Met’s overall transformation 
programme that should realise huge efficiency savings as well as performance 
improvements; it cannot be allowed to fail. However, the signs are not great. 

In 2016-17, the Met expects to achieve less than half of the £60 million of 
savings it planned for in 2016-17, and to underspend by £20 million on capital 
investment. Indeed, over the last four years the Met has underspent by 31 per 
cent on investment in its Digital Policing strategy – some £115 million. The 
Deputy Commissioner has conceded this point and admitted that “we suffer 
from over-optimism”.25  

2.9 The Met needs to ramp up delivery of its Digital Policing strategy and MOPAC 
needs to improve the oversight it provides. The Met has appointed a new 
permanent Chief Information Officer but with regards to MOPAC the Mayor’s 

Recommendation 2 
In his draft consolidated budget, the Mayor should clearly set out where 
he has found £6.2 million to meet the difference between the provisional 
police settlement and the funding he will secure from raising the police 
precept element of council tax. 
 

Page 22



 
 

 
 18    

Chief of Staff said that the right level of strategic procurement expertise and 

scrutiny “isn’t in place today… I am confident that MOPAC is beginning the 
process.”26 MOPAC must improve its digital capacity as a matter of urgency.  

2.10 Raising the funds needed to reinvest in the Digital Policing strategy depends 
on the Met successfully delivering its Estates strategy. The Met has actually 
overachieved in recent years, buoyed by ongoing growth in London’s property 
markets. On 18 October 2016 the Met told us that “what we actually raised in 
the last four years was about £975 million … substantially in excess [of 
planned receipts]”.27 Over the next four years the Met will continue to make 
disposals at a value of nearly £800 million.28 The accrued capital receipts will 
be used to finance the Met’s capital investment, most notably in the area of 
Digital Policing.  

2.11 Yet, at our 5 January meeting, the Deputy Commissioner acknowledged that 
there were “risks in that around the property market, the availability of asset 
values”.29 The Mayor acknowledged the risk too – and, referring to New 
Scotland Yard, said “some people may well say that the MPS has already sold 
off the crown jewels in relation to maximum bang for buck, but there is still a 
lot of estate there we can be more sensible about”.30 This may imply that the 
Mayor is moving away from disposals to an income-generation asset strategy, 
akin to that of TfL.  

  

Page 23



 
 

 
 19    

3. Transport 

Key findings 

 The consultation budget lacks sufficient detail on 
TfL’s planned savings and efficiencies.  

 Similarly, neither the Mayor nor TfL will set out 
what changes have been made to TfL’s capital 
investment plan. Until the Mayor provides sufficient 
information, it appears that a number of projects 
may have been cancelled, such as the Metropolitan 
line extension.  

 Income from bus fares is vital for TfL’s finances. Its 
forecast of an 11 per cent growth in bus passenger 
numbers by 2021-22 appears optimistic.   

Page 24



 
 

 
 20    

Savings and efficiencies 

3.1 We continue to have concerns with TfL’s financial position. As we concluded 
in our September 2016 report, TfL’s financial challenge, these are tough times 
for TfL. In November 2015, the government announced it would be cutting its 
revenue grant to zero by 2018-19. And TfL’s financial position was made even 
tougher when the Mayor was elected on a promise to freeze TfL’s fares for 
four years, at a cost to TfL of some £640 million.31 TfL described its latest 
business plan as the “most ambitious to date”, and explained that the key 
risks are in achieving cost reductions and increasing passenger numbers, 
including on the buses.32 

3.2 Neither the Mayor nor TfL can explain to us how TfL will make the savings and 

efficiencies built into its new business plan. This states that in the next five 
years TfL will save £2 billion through better procurement and contracting, and 
£2 billion by restructuring its business. To do this, it needs to make £800 
million of annual efficiency savings by 2020-21.33 TfL published a broad 
breakdown of £227.6 million to be saved in 2017-18, but has not provided us 

with even this level of detail for future years because of “commercial 
reasons”.34 We need this information to see what parts of the transport 
network are affected and assess key areas of risk. Without it we cannot have 
confidence in TfL’s plans. 

 

Changes to capital investment 

3.3 TfL and the Mayor could not explain how TfL’s capital investment plan has 
changed in the new TfL business plan. We requested this information in our 
September 2016 report, TfL’s financial challenge, and repeated it a number of 
times through this budget process. On 4 January, the Deputy Mayor for 
Transport told us that there have been an “awful lot of changes and shifts” in 
TfL’s capital investment plan, but neither TfL nor the Mayor have been able to 
tell us which projects are affected.35 Then, on 10 January, in response to our 

repeated requested for this information, the Mayor’s Chief of Staff said “…the 
Mayor also agrees - it is a perfectly reasonable request for that information… 
After this meeting, it probably behoves us to check in with TfL on progress and 
if necessary remind them of the urgency of it.”36  

3.4 At the time of drafting this report we have still have not received this 
information. We have repeatedly requested details from both the Mayor and 
TfL of the changes which TfL has made to its capital investment plan between 
its March 2016 business plan and the current business plan, published in 
December 2016. We ask again that the Mayor provides a project-by-project 

Recommendation 3 
The draft consolidated budget should include a high-level breakdown of 
the annual savings and efficiencies contained in the TfL business plan, 
reaching £800 million a year by 2020-21. 

Page 25

https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/budget_and_performance_committee_report_tfls_financial_challenge_final.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/budget_and_performance_committee_report_tfls_financial_challenge_final.pdf


 
 

 
 21    

list showing changes from the previous business plan, with a narrative to 

explain these changes. Without this it is impossible to see how plans to 
improve London’s transport infrastructure have been changed by the new 
administration. 

3.5 From the limited information that is available it appears that a number of 
projects may have cancelled, including the Metropolitan Line extension. When 
pushed on the changes which have been made to the capital investment plan, 
the Mayor’s Chief of Staff said “of course [the March 2016 and December 
2016 business plans] are in the public domain and anybody can look at them 
and attempt to do their own comparison.” The Sutton tram extension no 
longer has a specific budget.  TfL told us that it is negotiating with the 
borough, and, if an agreement can be reached, it may be funded by local 

authorities and/or the unallocated TfL Growth Fund. However, we note that 
these sources will of course be under pressure to fund a range of other 
projects and priorities.37  

3.6 TfL will spend £615 million less on capital projects over the next four years 
than previously planned.38 TfL has changed the way it classifies its capital 
spend, shifting a number of projects across from capital renewals to new 
capital investments. This was not explained in either TfL’s business plan or the 
Mayor’s consultation budget, but it emerged through questioning the 
Transport Commissioner and TfL’s Chief Finance Officer at our 4 January 
meeting. While TfL’s business plan makes it look like it is planning more new 
capital investment than before, when we combine capital renewals with 
capital investments the figures tell a different story: across the two categories 

together, capital spend over the first four years of the plan is £615 million 
lower than in the previous business plan.39 The new accounting treatment 
also makes it easier for TfL to make an operating surplus, which it aims to 
achieve by 2021-22.40 

 

Declining bus income 

3.7 We are pleased the TfL Board agrees with us that the need to attract more 
bus passengers is a key risk for TfL over the next few years.41 Bus fares are 
TfL’s largest source of income, and currently demand for bus services is in 
decline. TfL’s business plan is based on the expectation that bus passenger 
numbers will increase from 2.3 billion in 2016-17 to 2.5 billion in 2021-22 (11 
per cent) and fares income from £1.5 billion to £1.8 billion (20 per cent) over 
the same period.42 It expects to achieve this level of growth by reducing 

Recommendation 4 
TfL should publish a project-by-project list showing changes in capital 
investment from the previous business plan, with a narrative to explain the 
reasoning behind them, and the implications of these changes. TfL should 
commit to publishing this information alongside any future business plans. 

Page 26



 
 

 
 22    

congestion on the road network and improving reliability across the bus 

network. This will be challenging given that planned bus kilometres will not 
increase, the number of car trips is expected to stay the same, and more road 
space will be given over to walking and cycling. The Mayor is considering fiscal 
mechanisms to tackle road congestion as part of work to develop his 
forthcoming Transport Strategy. We await the publication of that strategy 
with interest. 

 

  

Recommendation 5 
TfL should justify its forecast and assumptions for bus passengers as set 
out in its December 2016 business plan and set out the risks if these 
forecasts are not achieved. 

Page 27



 
 

 
 23    

4. Fire 

Key findings 

 We commend LFEPA for presenting a balanced 
budget for the next three years. LFEPA is facing a 
£13.9 million funding gap in 2020-21 and is now 
developing plans to address this.  

 LFEPA cannot afford to implement Lord Harris’ 
recommendations to improve London’s 
preparedness to respond to a major terrorist 
incident without further Home Office funding. 

  

Page 28



 
 

 
 24    

Budget plans 

4.1 We welcome LFEPA’s thorough planning for achieving savings and efficiencies. 
The recent review of the LFB by Sir Anthony Mayer found that “there is 
currently no persuasive case to increase LFB's budget by diverting resources 
from elsewhere in the GLA Group or increasing the precept. Perhaps more 
importantly, there should be no additional reductions to LFB’s budget that 
would worsen the £23.5 million budget gap inherited from Mayor Johnson.”43 
LFEPA’s budget submission has a comprehensive package of over 70 named 
savings proposals, with risk factors and a profile across the next four years for 
each. The capital plan is equally detailed. LFEPA has presented plans for a 
balanced budget for the next three years, and this should be commended. 

4.2 LFEPA’s savings plans will address its budget gap in the short-term, but a 
deficit emerges again in 2019-20. LFEPA’s budget submission shows that it is 
deliberately trying to make savings as soon as possible in order to spread the 
impact of the deficit over the next three years. The resulting budget surpluses 
in 2017-18 and 2018-19 will be paid into a new Budget Flexibility Reserve to 

help balance the budget in 2019-20. Even so, by 2020-21 LFEPA is forecasting 
another budget gap of £13.9 million; without additional funding, further 
savings and efficiencies will be required.44 When before our committee on 4 
January, the new Commissioner was clear that LFEPA is already looking to 
address this budget gap. She stated that there were “a number of other plans 
… we hope to have further detail coming up fairly soon”.45 We look forward to 
seeing LFEPA’s plans for the future. 

Lord Harris recommendations 

4.3 We are concerned about LFEPA’s ability to implement Lord Harris’ 
recommendations into London’s preparedness to respond to a major terrorist 

incident. The Lord Harris review has specific findings for the London Fire 
Brigade (LFB), and four of the five recommendations given relate to providing 
specialist training to firefighters on a Marauding Terrorist Firearm Attack 
(MTFA), with Lord Harris saying “there should be no delay in implementing 
new training for LFB personnel”.46 Lord Harris also wrote that “the cost of 
equipment and training will be considerable”.47  

4.4 LFEPA is negotiating with the Home Office for additional funding to cover this 

training. The timeline for these negotiations may not allow us to know the 
outcome before the Mayor’s final budget. The Mayor was clear at our 
meeting on 10 January 2017 that LFEPA could not meet these 
recommendations without Home Office funding. The Mayor must be 
successful in his negotiations if LFEPA is to continue to balance its budget.  

  

Page 29



 
 

 
 25    

5. The Mayoral 
Development 
Corporations 

Key findings 

 The Mayor intends to cut the OPDC’s funding by 40 
per cent. As a result, regeneration at Old Oak and 
Park Royal is at risk. The Mayor is holding back £1 
million of contingency funding for the OPDC. He 
should set out his plans for releasing it. 

 The future of the LLDC is also uncertain. It does not 
look set to break-even in the near future and would 
need to increase income five-fold to reach a surplus 
position. 

 The transformation work on the London Stadium is 
now complete but the stadium still requires ongoing 
public funding of approximately £5 million a year. 

  

Page 30



 
 

 
 26    

Old Oak and Park Royal Development Corporation 

5.1 One month after taking office, the Mayor called a formal investigation into the 
Old Oak and Park Royal Development Corporation (OPDC) and an unofficial 
“temporary suspension of programmed activity pending the outcome of the 
Mayor’s review”.48 As a result, the OPDC’s activity was delayed and it is 
forecasting a £2.8 million underspend against its £11.4 million budget for 
2016-17.49 In the announcement about his investigation’s findings, the Mayor 
branded the OPDC “a mess.”50  

5.2 The Mayor is planning to reduce his funding to the OPDC by 40 per cent from 
its 2016-17 level. The OPDC receives the vast majority of its funding from the 
GLA, with just £0.4 million of other income expected in planning application 

fees. A 40 per cent reduction will bring the OPDC’s budget down from £11.4 
million in 2016-17 to £6.9 million in 2017-18. Its budget for 2016-17 was 
originally £5.4 million, but it was increased in March 2016 by the previous 
Mayor following the signing of a Memorandum of Understanding with the 
Department for Transport regarding the land at the site.  In our meeting with 

OPDC, we heard that there was a clear expectation that this funding would 
continue in future years. 

5.3 We disagree with the way the Mayor has chosen to present the OPDC’s 
budget in his draft consultation budget document. The draft budget uses the 
OPDC’s forecast outturn for 2016-17 of £8.6 million, rather than its revised 
budget of £11.4 million. We were told that the “more meaningful way of 
showing the variance that is really happening to the OPDC is to compare its 

forecast spend to its budget”.51 But budgets are not set based on outturns. 
When the Chairman of this committee asked the GLA’s Assistant Director of 
Group Finance about the number of times that the Chairman has seen outturn 
used as a comparison for formatting a budget, the reply was “I imagine it is 
zero.”52 And in reality the OPDC’s outturn is lower than expected as its 
programme activity was suspended while the Mayor conducted his review of 
the organisation. 

5.4 Based on the information provided, it is odd and bizarre to treat the OPDC in 
this way. We suspect the forecast outturn figure has been used because it 
provides a less stark indication of the cut to the OPDC’s budget in 2017-18. 
Comparing like-for-like, the budget cut is 40 per cent; using the forecast 

outturn figure this becomes a 20 per cent cut. But in no other year, and for no 
other functional body, is this approach used. We do not think this is 
acceptable and ask the Mayor to revert to normal practice for the next 
version of his draft budget. 

 

Recommendation 6 
The draft consolidated budget should use the OPDC’s revised 2016-17 
budget of £11.4 million, rather than its forecast outturn of £8.6 million. 

Page 31



 
 

 
 27    

 

5.5 As a result of the funding cut, regeneration at Old Oak and Park Royal is at 
risk. The consultation budget states that the OPDC will provide the “impetus 
for a once in a lifetime regeneration opportunity” in West London.53 Yet the 
Chief Executive of the OPDC believes that “were savings of 40 per cent to be 
delivered, we believe that there would be an impact on delivery of homes and 
jobs… We are talking about a few thousand homes that we would not be 
directly involved in putting forward and we feel might not happen as a 
result.”54 

5.6 One option being considered is for the OPDC to develop a proposal that could 
generate ongoing revenue streams. This would need some start-up funding 
from the Mayor, and the consultation budget states that a “contingency of £1 

million is held by the Mayor to support a ‘self-funding’ proposal to be 
developed by OPDC.”55 The OPDC’s Chief Executive told the Committee that: 

“The point is that we would need to have some money in the short 
term that could generate a return in the longer term… so that it 
becomes more of a cash flow issue than an outright funding 
question… If we are able to satisfy the GLA that we can fulfil such 
an arrangement then the funding should be available to enable us 
to move forward. We are talking about an inability to deliver to 
our targets; we are talking over a 35- to 40-year period. There is 
still time to recover that.” 

Before the Assembly meets to consider the draft consolidated budget, we 

would expect the OPDC to provide further detail on its proposals. 

 

 

London Legacy Development Corporation 

The LLDC’s long-term viability  

5.7 We have doubts over the LLDC’s long-term financial viability. The LLDC is 
meant to eventually pay back all capital investment costs through the 
proceeds of disposals and other future revenue sources, such as developer 
fees. It is also meant to gradually reach a surplus revenue position. However, 
the LLDC’s Chief Executive has now said that “this is not realistic in the short 
term” and has suggested 2030 as a target for break-even. 56  The LLDC’s 2017-
18 budget has a £23.1 million deficit, which is covered by the GLA. To break 
even the LLDC will have to either drastically reduce costs or drastically 
increase income. 

Recommendation 7 
The OPDC should provide detail on plans for how it would use the Mayor’s 
£1 million of contingency funding. 

Page 32



 
 

 
 28    

5.8 The LLDC is unlikely to succeed in drastically reducing its costs, as many of 

them are relatively fixed. The park’s management costs are on a fixed contract 
- negotiated under the previous Mayoralty – to the value of approximately £8 
million every year. The trading arms of the park look set to need continual 
subsidy – approximately £2 million once the profit-making 3 Mills Studio is 
disposed of in 2018-19. Corporate costs have been the subject of the most 
savings and efficiencies, yet once these have been made the costs stabilise at 
approximately £5 million per year. The marketing, planning and executive 
office budgets are both budgeted to remain between £2 and £2.5 million for 
each of the next four years. We estimate the fixed costs total some £21.5 
million a year. 

5.9 The LLDC would have to increase its current income five-fold to reach a 

surplus position. It has told us in the past that the fixed estate charge should 
more than achieve this, but this may be overly optimistic. In a written 
response to the Committee the LLDC's Chief Executive has now said that 
within 10-15 years he expects the fixed estate charge to generate additional 
income of approximately £10 million.57 This would bring income to 
approximately £15 million – we estimate that this would still not allow LLDC to 
break-even, although we acknowledge that this brings break-even status 
much nearer. We would encourage the Mayor to closely monitor the LLDC’s 
income streams. It would be a real achievement for the LLDC to reach a break-
even point, let alone generate surpluses to pay back any capital costs it is 
unable to cover with capital receipts. In the meantime, the GLA will have to 
continue to subsidise the LLDC.  

The London Stadium  

5.10 The Mayor’s consultation budget includes proposals to meet yet more costs 
relating to the London Stadium. In November 2016, we learned that the 
stadium conversion costs had increased by £51 million.58 The next month, 
LLDC’s Chief Executive was clear that there would be no further increase to 
the stadium conversion costs. Speaking to the Budget Monitoring Sub-
Committee, he said that the “transformation, £323 [million], that is the final 
number … and the work is finished”.59 The LLDC’s 2017-18 budget submission, 
however, includes £8.4 million of capital expenditure in 2017-18, as well as 
continued capital expenditure of circa £5 million in the three years after. The 
LLDC’s budget submission states that: 

“Costs for the stadium relate to LLDC’s working capital 
contributions as a member of the E20 Stadium LLP partnership, 
based on a range of assumptions on operating costs and revenues, 
naming rights income and the cost of seat moves.”60 

Essentially, the London Stadium is losing money and the Mayor is paying for it. 
This money is classified as capital expenditure since it is technically an 
investment in a joint venture, the E20 LLP.  

Page 33



 
 

 
 29    

5.11 There are two main reasons that the stadium is losing money. Firstly, the LLDC 

Chief Executive has now admitted that there will be annual ongoing costs of 
moving the seats between football mode and athletics mode. The contract 
has yet to be tendered and so no exact figure can be given but it could be up 
to £8 million a year.61 Secondly, income from a naming-rights deal for the 
stadium has now fallen through, and it may be harder to find another sponsor 
in light of the violence seen at West Ham games this season.62 The naming-
rights deal was estimated at £4 million a year. This is £4 million that under 
current plans the E20 LLP will no longer receive. The Mayor has said that “this 
is something that should have been resolved before West Ham moved in”.63 

5.12 We welcome the Mayor’s “detailed investigation into the issues surrounding 
the London Stadium” but it must include a review of the lease with West Ham 

United Football Club.64 At our 10 January meeting, we heard that the Mayor 
has not yet appointed anyone to carry out the investigation. This means that 
review will not conclude in time to inform the 2017-18 budget process, but 
the Mayor’s Chief of Staff confirmed the finding of the investigation will 
inform the 2018-19 budget process.65 The investigation must proceed with 
urgency and should assess whether there is any scope to get a better deal for 
the taxpayer in terms of West Ham United Football Club supporting more of 
the costs of running the stadium. The Mayor should publish the terms of 
reference for this investigation, and include a review of the terms of the 
London Stadium lease agreement as part of this work. 

 

 

  

Recommendation 8 
The Mayor should urgently publish plans for the investigation into the 
London Stadium. This should include the terms of reference for the 
investigation, which should include a review of the terms of the Stadium 
lease agreement, and confirm his plans for publishing the outcome of the 
investigation. 

Page 34



 
 

 
 30    

 

 
 

6. Housing 

Key findings 

 The Mayor has secured a favourable affordable 
housing settlement for London. 

 We welcome his commitment to setting annual 
affordable housing targets so we can monitor his 
progress in delivering 90,000 affordable housing 
starts by 2020-21. 

 The London Housing Bank continues to disappoint. 
The Mayor is looking to agree different terms for 
use of the funding with government, and any 
changes should be reflected in his annual targets for 
affordable homes.  

  

Page 35



 
 

 
 31    

6.1 Housing is one of the Mayor’s top priorities and he has succeeded in 

negotiating a favourable affordable housing settlement for London. In the 
Autumn Statement, the Government announced that the GLA’s affordable 
housing settlement is confirmed at £3.15 billion, covering 2016-21. This is 
better than the GLA was expecting: the previous 2015-18 settlement provided 
London with £417 million a year, whereas the 2016-21 settlement provides 
£630 million a year. In exchange for this, the Mayor must deliver 90,000 
affordable housing starts by March 2021.66 

6.2 The figures on affordable housing in the consultation budget are subject to 
change. The Mayor explained that he was in discussion with the Department 
for Communities and Local Government (DCLG), and expected to re-profile 
the budget. Currently, most of the funding from the affordable housing sits in 

2021-22, but this is just a “placeholder”. After the first round of bids, in March 
2017, the Mayor will agree with DCLG how the funding should be spread, and 
re-profile his budget accordingly. We welcome his commitment to set out 
annual targets on affordable home starts at this stage.67 

6.3 The London Housing Bank, a legacy programme from the previous Mayor and 
based on terms set by the DCLG, continues to disappoint. The programme was 
set up to lend money for building affordable homes, but has not provided any 
loans to developers to date. The budget reflects the original spending profile 
agreed with central government, but low take-up means it is unlikely that the 
GLA will be able to spend this money as intended. The Mayor is discussing 
with DCLG if the funding can be used in a different way, and if successful, 
again expects to re-profile the budget.68 

  

Page 36



 
 

 
 32    

7. Environment 

Key findings 

 The Mayor has not yet set out what funding he is 
allocating for all of his environmental priorities. His 
priorities should have clear funding streams 
allocated to them so we can monitor his progress. 

 Likewise, key milestones should be set for all of 
them. Many of his priorities will run for several 
decades and the Mayor must have a clear plan in 
place soon if he is to deliver them. 

 It appears that the Mayor is proposing a reduction 
in the budget for the GLA’s Development, Enterprise 
and Environment Directorate. More information is 
needed to assess whether this proposal will be 
carried through to the final budget for 2017-18. 

  

Page 37



 
 

 
 33    

Monitoring performance 

7.1 The Mayor must set out exactly what funding he is providing in his final 
budget to deliver his environmental commitments. We know that he is 
providing TfL with £875 million to tackle air pollution through to 2021-22, but 
we are less clear on the funding to address other environmental priorities, 
such as planting two million trees by 2020, achieving 65 per cent recycling by 
2030, and making London a zero-carbon city by 2050.69 These priorities should 
have clear funding streams so that progress against them can be measured. 

7.2 The Mayor should also publish key milestones for each of his environmental 
commitments so that performance can be monitored. Some of the Mayor’s 
targets, such as becoming a zero-carbon city, are very stretching. In November 

2015 the Environment Committee found that City Hall was behind in carbon 
reduction targets – already 15 million tonnes of CO2 behind schedule and 
having retrofitted approximately half of the number of homes planned.70 
Inheriting programmes that are already behind schedule, the Mayor will need 
to have a clear schedule of milestones for all of the commitments above 

which he can work to if he is to achieve his environmental targets. We expect 
these to form part of the suite of target outcomes expected in the next few 
months. 

Reduction in the GLA’s environment budget 

7.3 We are concerned at what appears to be a reduction in the GLA’s 
Development, Enterprise and Environment Directorate’s budget. The 

Directorate had a revised revenue budget for 2016-17 of £16.6 million, but 
the Mayor’s consultation budget proposes to allocate it £15.9 million for 
2017-18.71 The Mayor’s Chief of Staff suggested that the “important thing to 
remember when looking at the budget compared to 2016-17 is that of course 

2016-17 includes a number of the previous Mayor’s programmes that are 
coming to a conclusion,” but he could not tell us how much funding in the 
Directorate’s current budget is for any concluding programmes.72 Therefore, 
we cannot assess the real level of reduction to its budget at this stage. In his 
final budget, the Mayor should clearly set out what funding is being provided 
for the GLA’s Development, Enterprise and Environment Directorate, and how 
much of this is for environmental programmes. 

 

Recommendation 9 
In his response to this report, the Mayor should set out: 

 the funding he is providing for his environmental commitments 

 when key milestones will be published for achieving them  

 the proposed budget for the GLA’s Development, Enterprise and 

Environment Directorate, and provide clarity on how much 
funding will be allocated to environmental programmes. 

Page 38



 
 

 
 34    

  

Page 39



 
 

 
 35    

Our approach 

This report is based on the committee’s examination of the GLA Group Budget 
Proposals and Precepts 2017-18: consultation document, published on 21 
December 2016. The committee held three meetings in early January to 
question guests: 

4 January 2017 

 Valerie Shawcross CBE, Deputy Mayor for Transport and Deputy Chair, TfL 

 Mike Brown MVO, Commissioner for Transport, TfL 

 Ian Nunn, Chief Finance Officer, TfL 

 Fiona Twycross AM, Chair, LFEPA 

 Dany Cotton QFSM, Commissioner, LFEPA 

 Adrian Bloomfield, Head of Finance, LFEPA 

 David Gallie, Assistant Director – Group Finance, GLA  

5 January 2017 

 Sophie Linden, Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime, GLA 

 Rebecca Lawrence, Director of Strategy, MOPAC 

 Alex Anderson, Strategic Finance and Resource Management Accountant, 

MOPAC 

 Craig Mackey, Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service 

 Lynda McMullan, Director of Finance and Commercial, Metropolitan Police 
Service 

 Victoria Hills, Chief Executive Officer, OPDC 

 Doug Wilson, Chief Finance Officer, OPDC 

 David Goldstone CBE, Chief Executive, LLDC 

 Gerry Murphy, Executive Director of Finance and Corporate Services, LLDC 

 David Gallie, Assistant Director – Group Finance, GLA  

10 January 2017 

 Sadiq Khan, Mayor of London 

 David Bellamy, Mayor’s Chief of Staff, GLA 

 Martin Clarke, Executive Director of Resources, GLA 

 David Gallie, Assistant Director – Group Finance, GLA  

In addition, this report builds on our Pre-Budget Report 2016, published in 
December.  
  

Page 40

https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/mayors_consultation_budget_2017-18.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/mayors_consultation_budget_2017-18.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/final_-_budget_and_performance_committee_-_pre-budget_report_2016.pdf


 
 

 
 36    

References

 
1 Written Statement HCWS360, Table 5, Brandon Lewis, Minister of State for 
Fire and Policing, 15 December 2016. 

2 GLA Group Budget Proposals and Precepts 2017-18: consultation document, 
December 2016, Page 2. 

3 GLA Group Budget Proposals and Precepts 2017-18: consultation document, 
December 2016, Page 2. 

4 Letter from the Mayor to the Chairman of the Budget and Performance 
Committee, Pre-Budget Report 2016, 5 January 2017. 

5 GLA Group Budget Proposals and Precepts 2017-18: consultation document, 
December 2016, Page 46. 

6 Budget and Performance Committee, Pre-Budget Report 2015, December 
2015, Page 23. 

7 The London Fire and Emergency Planning Authority. Budget Update. 24 
November 2016. Appendix 3 

8 GLA Group Budget Proposals and Precepts 2017-18: consultation document, 
December 2016. See the reserves tables for each functional body. 

9 GLA Group Budget Proposals and Precepts 2017-18: consultation document, 
December 2016. See Section 9: Draft Capital Spending Plan and Borrowing 

Limits, Pages 48-53.  

10 TfL’s Chief Finance Officer, speaking to the Budget and Performance 
Committee on 4 January 2017. 

11 Written Statement HCWS360, Table 5, Brandon Lewis, Minister of State for 
Fire and Policing, 15 December 2016. 

12 Sir Bernard Hogan-Howe, MPS Commissioner, speaking to the Police and 
Crime Committee on 17 December 2015. 

13 The Mayor, speaking to the Budget and Performance Committee on 10 
January 2017. 

14 Draft Police and Crime Plan for London 2017-2021, 1 December 2016, page 
17. 

15 MOPAC Budget Submission 2017-18, Annex 1 

16 The Mayor, speaking to the Budget and Performance Committee on 10 
January 2017. 

 

Page 41

http://www.parliament.uk/business/publications/written-questions-answers-statements/written-statement/Commons/2016-12-15/HCWS360/
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/mayors_consultation_budget_2017-18.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/mayors_consultation_budget_2017-18.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/mayoral_response_to_pre-budget_report_050117.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/mayors_consultation_budget_2017-18.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/pre-budget_report_2015.pdf
file://SECDATA/SECRETARIAT$/budget-performance-committee/project-working/2016-17/2017-18%20budget%20scrutiny/LFEPA%20Budget%20Update.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/mayors_consultation_budget_2017-18.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/mayors_consultation_budget_2017-18.pdf
http://www.parliament.uk/business/publications/written-questions-answers-statements/written-statement/Commons/2016-12-15/HCWS360/
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/draft_police_and_crime_plan_for_london_2017-2021_-_consultation_document.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/pcd_103_budget_submission.pdf


 
 

 
 37    

 
17 The Mayor, speaking to the Budget and Performance Committee on 10 
January 2017. 

18 Written Statement HCWS360, Table 5, Brandon Lewis, Minister of State for 
Fire and Policing, 15 December 2016. 

19 Written Statement HCWS360, Table 5, Brandon Lewis, Minister of State for 
Fire and Policing, 15 December 2016, who wrote the “forecast reduction in 
Greater London Authority funding compared to 2015/16 reflects that rather 
than maximising precept income in 2016/17, the Mayor of London reduced 
precept by 3.24%.” 

20 The Mayor, speaking to the Budget and Performance Committee on 10 
January 2017. 

21  Mayoral press release, Government cuts lead Mayor to propose 8p a week 
council tax rise, 16 December 2017. 

22 Draft Police and Crime Plan 2017-2021, Page 61. 

23 PEEL Police Efficiency 2016: An inspection of the Metropolitan Police 
Service, HMIC, Page 17, Figure 3.  

24 The Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime, Sophie Linden, and the Deputy 
Commissioner, Craig Mackey, speaking to the Budget and Performance 
Committee on 5 January 2017. 

25 The Deputy Commissioner MPS, Craig Mackey, speaking to the Budget and 

Performance Committee on 5 January 2017. 

26 The Mayor’s Chief of Staff, David Bellamy, speaking to the Budget and 
Performance Committee on 10 January 2017.  

27 The Interim Head of Asset Leverage, MPS, Matthew Punshon, speaking to 
the Budget and Performance Committee on 18 October 2016. 

28 The Interim Head of Asset Leverage, MPS, Matthew Punshon, speaking to 
the Budget and Performance Committee on 18 October 2016. 

29 The Deputy Commissioner MPS, Craig Mackey, speaking to the Budget and 
Performance Committee on 5 January 2017. 

30 The Mayor speaking to the Budget and Performance Committee on 10 

January 2017. 

31 Mayoral press release, First savings found to fund Mayor’s fares freeze on 
TfL services, 8 June 2016. 

32 Transport for London, Covering note on TfL's 2016 Business plan, 15 
December 2016; the Transport Commissioner, Mike Brown, speaking to the 
Budget and Performance Committee on 4 January 2017. 

33 Mayoral press release, Mayor cuts waste at TfL to fund an affordable and 
modern network, 8 December 2016. 

 

Page 42

http://www.parliament.uk/business/publications/written-questions-answers-statements/written-statement/Commons/2016-12-15/HCWS360/
http://www.parliament.uk/business/publications/written-questions-answers-statements/written-statement/Commons/2016-12-15/HCWS360/
https://www.london.gov.uk/press-releases/mayoral/mayor-proposes-tax-rise-to-protect-police-numbers
https://www.london.gov.uk/press-releases/mayoral/mayor-proposes-tax-rise-to-protect-police-numbers
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/draft_police_and_crime_plan_for_london_2017-2021_-_consultation_document.pdf
http://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmic/wp-content/uploads/peel-police-efficiency-2016-metropolitan.pdf
http://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmic/wp-content/uploads/peel-police-efficiency-2016-metropolitan.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/press-releases/mayoral/first-savings-found-to-fund-mayors-fares-freeze
https://www.london.gov.uk/press-releases/mayoral/first-savings-found-to-fund-mayors-fares-freeze
http://content.tfl.gov.uk/board-20161215-item09-tfl-business-plan.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/press-releases/mayoral/mayor-cuts-waste-at-tfl
https://www.london.gov.uk/press-releases/mayoral/mayor-cuts-waste-at-tfl


 
 

 
 38    

 
34 GLA Group Budget Proposals and Precepts 2017-18: consultation document, 
December 2016, Page 35; TfL’s Chief Finance Officer, Ian Nunn, speaking to 
the Budget and Performance Committee on 4 January 2017. 

35 The Deputy Mayor for Transport, Val Shawcross, speaking to the Budget 
and Performance Committee on 4 January 2017. 

36 The Mayor’s Chief of Staff, David Bellamy, speaking to the Budget and 
Performance Committee on 10 January 2017. 

37 TfL’s Chief Finance Officer, Ian Nunn, speaking to the Budget and 
Performance Committee on 4 January 2017. 

38 Transport for London Business Plan, December 2016, Pages 26-27; 

[Previous] Transport for London Business Plan, March 2016, Pages 68-69. 

39 Transport for London Business Plan, December 2016, Pages 26-27; 
[Previous] Transport for London Business Plan, March 2016, Pages 68-69. 

40 Transport for London Business Plan, December 2016, Page 27. 

41 TfL Board meeting, 15 December 2016. Minutes are not yet available.  

42 Transport for London Business Plan, December 2016, Page 53. 

43 Anthony Mayer, Review of Resourcing of the London Fire Brigade, 7 
October 2016. 

44 GLA Group Budget Proposals and Precepts 2017-18: consultation document, 
December 2016, Page 29. 

45 Interim Commissioner, Dany Cotton, speaking to the Budget and 
Performance Committee on 4 January 2017. 

46 London's preparedness to respond to a major terrorist incident, Lord Harris, 
October 2016, Page 29 

47 London's preparedness to respond to a major terrorist incident, Lord Harris, 
October 2016, Page 30. 

48 OPC Q1 2016-17 Budget and Performance Monitoring Report, Budget 
Monitoring Sub-Committee, 4 November 2016, Item 5f. 

49 OPDC, OPDC’s 2016-17 Quarter 2 Budget and Performance Monitoring, 

Paragraph 1.1. 

50 Mayoral press release, Mayor reveals ‘mess’ left at Old Oak Common in 
review findings, 1 November 2016. 

51 The GLA’s Assistant Director of Group Finance, David Gallie, speaking to the 
Budget and Performance Committee on 10 January 2017. 

52 The GLA’s Assistant Director of Group Finance, David Gallie, speaking to the 
Budget and Performance Committee on 10 January 2017. 

 

Page 43

https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/mayors_consultation_budget_2017-18.pdf
http://content.tfl.gov.uk/tfl-business-plan-december-2016.pdf
http://content.tfl.gov.uk/tfl-budget-2016-17-and-business-plan.pdf
http://content.tfl.gov.uk/tfl-business-plan-december-2016.pdf
http://content.tfl.gov.uk/tfl-budget-2016-17-and-business-plan.pdf
http://content.tfl.gov.uk/tfl-business-plan-december-2016.pdf
http://content.tfl.gov.uk/tfl-business-plan-december-2016.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/fire_resources_review_-_7_october_2016.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/mayors_consultation_budget_2017-18.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/londons_preparedness_to_respond_to_a_major_terrorist_incident_-_independent_review_oct_2016.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/londons_preparedness_to_respond_to_a_major_terrorist_incident_-_independent_review_oct_2016.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/s59927/05f%20OPDC%20Q1%20Report.pdf
http://www.london.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/s60899/05f%20OPDC%20Q2%20Report.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/press-releases/mayoral/mayor-reveals-mess-left-at-old-oak-common
https://www.london.gov.uk/press-releases/mayoral/mayor-reveals-mess-left-at-old-oak-common


 
 

 
 39    

 
53 GLA Group Budget Proposals and Precepts 2017-18: consultation document 
December 2016, Page 45. 

54 The Chief Executive of the OPDC, Victoria Hills, speaking to the Budget and 
Performance Committee on 5 January 2017. 

55 GLA Group Budget Proposals and Precepts 2017-18: consultation document 
December 2016, Page 46. 

56 Chief Executive of the LLDC, David Goldstone, speaking to the Budget and 
Performance Committee on 5 January 2017. 

57 Chief Executive of the LLDC, David Goldstone, in written response to the 
Chairman of the Budget and Performance Committee, letter dated 12 January 

2017. 

58 BBC, London Stadium: Sadiq Khan orders investigation over rising costs, 1 
November 2016. 

59 The Chief Executive of LLDC, David Goldstone CBE, speaking to the Budget 
Monitoring Sub Committee on 14 December 2016. 

60 The LLDC, The LLDC 2017-18 Draft Budget Submission, Paragraph 3.3.6 

61 The Chief Executive of LLDC, David Goldstone CBE, speaking to the Budget 
Monitoring Sub Committee on 14 December 2016. 

62 West Ham count cost after naming-rights deal for London Stadium 
collapses, Telegraph, 27 October 2016 

63 Mayor Sadiq Khan, speaking to the Budget and Performance Committee on 
10 January 2017. 

64 In his response to our 2016 Pre-Budget Report, the Mayor set out his plans 
for investigating issues with the London Stadium. Speaking at our 10 January 
2017 meeting, the Mayor stated he did not know whether a break clause 
existed within the lease.   

65 Mayor’s Chief of Staff, David Bellamy, speaking to the Budget and 
Performance Committee on 10 January 2017. 

66 Mayoral press release, Mayor sets out ambitious plans to deliver 90,000 
affordable homes, 29 November 2016.  

67 Mayor Sadiq Khan, speaking to the Budget and Performance Committee on 
10 January 2017. 

68 The GLA’s Executive Director of Resources, Martin Clarke, and the Mayor, 
speaking to the Budget and Performance Committee on 10 January 2017. 

69 A Greener, Cleaner London, Sadiq Khan Manifesto. 

70 Cutting Carbon in London 2015 Update, Environment Committee, 
November 2015. 

 

Page 44

https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/mayors_consultation_budget_2017-18.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/mayors_consultation_budget_2017-18.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/mayors_consultation_budget_2017-18.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/mayors_consultation_budget_2017-18.pdf
http://www.bbc.co.uk/sport/football/37842354
http://www.queenelizabetholympicpark.co.uk/-/media/lldc-draft-budget-submission-201718.ashx?la=en
http://www.telegraph.co.uk/football/2016/10/27/west-ham-left-counting-cost-of-hooliganism-after-naming-rights-s/
http://www.telegraph.co.uk/football/2016/10/27/west-ham-left-counting-cost-of-hooliganism-after-naming-rights-s/
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/mayoral_response_to_pre-budget_report_050117.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/press-releases/mayoral/mayor-sets-out-plans-to-deliver-90000-homes
https://www.london.gov.uk/press-releases/mayoral/mayor-sets-out-plans-to-deliver-90000-homes
http://www.sadiq.london/the_environment
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/london_assembly_environment_committee_-_cutting_carbon_in_london_2015_update_0.pdf


 
 

 
 40    

 
71 GLA Group Budget Proposals and Precepts 2017-18: consultation document 
December 2016, Page 15. 

72 The Mayor’s Chief of Staff, David Bellamy, speaking to the Budget and 
Performance Committee on 10 January 2017. 

Page 45

https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/mayors_consultation_budget_2017-18.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/mayors_consultation_budget_2017-18.pdf


 
 

 
 41    

Other formats and 
languages 

If you, or someone you know, needs a copy of this report in large print or 
braille, or a copy of the summary and main findings in another language, then 
please call us on: 020 7983 4100 or email: 
assembly.translations@london.gov.uk. 
 

Chinese 

 

Hindi 

 

Vietnamese 

 

Bengali 

 
Greek 

 

Urdu 

 
Turkish 

 

Arabic 

 
Punjabi 

 

Gujarati 

 
 
 
 
  

Page 46

mailto:assembly.translations@london.gov.uk


 
 

 
 42    

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 47



 
 

 

  
 

©Greater London Authority 

 

Greater London Authority 

City Hall 
The Queen’s Walk 

More London 
London SE1 2AA 

Enquiries 020 7983 4100 
Minicom 020 7983 4458 

www.london.gov.uk  

Front cover photo: Metropolitan Police Service media library 

 
 

 

 

Page 48


	Agenda
	2 Declarations of Interests
	3b Response by the London Assembly's Budget and Performance Committee to the Mayor of London's GLA Group Budget Proposals and Precepts 2017-18 Consultation Document

